

Discussion Paper Deutsche Bundesbank

No 32/2012

Persuasion by stress testing optimal disclosure of supervisory information in the banking sector

Wolfgang Gick (Harvard and Tufts University)

Thilo Pausch (Deutsche Bundesbank)

Discussion Papers represent the authors' personal opinions and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Deutsche Bundesbank or its staff.

Editorial Board:

Klaus Düllmann Heinz Herrmann Christoph Memmel

Deutsche Bundesbank, Wilhelm-Epstein-Straße 14, 60431 Frankfurt am Main, Postfach 10 06 02, 60006 Frankfurt am Main

Tel +49 69 9566-0

Please address all orders in writing to: Deutsche Bundesbank, Press and Public Relations Division, at the above address or via fax +49 69 9566-3077

Internet http://www.bundesbank.de

Reproduction permitted only if source is stated.

ISBN 978-3-86558-867-8 (Printversion) ISBN 978-3-86558-868-5 (Internetversion)

Abstract

The game-theoretical analysis of this paper shows that stress tests that cover the entire banking sector (macro stress tests) can be performed by institutional supervisors to improve welfare. In a multi-receiver framework of Bayesian persuasion we show that a banking authority can create value when committing to disclose the stress-testing methodology (signal-generating process) together with the stress test result (signal). Disclosing two pieces of information is a typical procedure used in stress tests. By optimally choosing these two signals, supervisors can deliver superior information to prudent investors and enhance welfare. The paper offers a new theory to explain why stress tests are generally welfare enhancing. We also offer a treatment of the borderline case where the banking sector is hit by a crisis, in which case the supervisor will optimally disclose an uninformative signal.

Keywords: Stress Tests, Supervisory Information, Bayesian Persuasion, Multiple Receivers, Disclosure.

JEL classification: D81, D83, G28.

Non-technical summary

The present paper applies a game-theoretical model to analyze the impact of an optimal disclosure in stress test designs that cover the entire banking sector (macro stress tests). Specifically, we inquire to which extent investors will make optimal use of information stemming from such stress tests when deciding to provide liquidity to banks, e.g. via bank deposits or by purchasing bank bonds. In addition, the paper deals with the issue on how to optimally design supervisory macro stress tests when the banking supervisor pursue the goal to ensure a macro-economically optimal level of banking activities, this by convincing investors to provide the overall optimal amount of funding to the banking sector.

In our analysis we present a multi-receiver model of a *persuasion game*. Persuasion games belong to the larger class of *cheap talk games*. In our model banking supervisors, by making use of macro stress tests, can generate information about the actual stability level of the banking sector. Banking supervisors, however, face a commitment problem when they aim at influencing investors' decisions by disclosure of stress tests results. From an investors' point of view, stress test results, which are disclosed by banking supervisors, basically do not constitute a reliable form of information about the true state of the banking system (cheap talk).

The game-theoretical analysis of the present paper, however, shows that banking supervisors will optimally design macro stress test in a way that permits them to influence the decisions of investors to increase social welfare; this by both disclosing the method of the stress tests used as well as the stress test result. We furthermore show that macro stress tests pursued by banking supervisors will always increase the informativeness of the disclosure mechanism. However, banking supervisors should generally not aim at designing macro stress tests to completely eliminate uncertainty at the investors' side as to the actual state of the banking sector. Only this feature will permit supervisors to avoid triggering some possibly extreme forms of investor behavior (such as a complete withdrawal from bank financing, or, in turn, pursuing highly risky financial decisions).

Nicht-technische Zusammenfassung

Das vorliegende Papier analysiert mit Hilfe eines spieltheoretischen Modells die Wirkung und optimale Ausgestaltung bankaufsichtlicher Stresstests für den gesamten Bankensektor (Makro-Stresstests). Besonderes Augenmerk wird hierbei zum einen auf die Frage gelegt, ob und wie Investoren Informationen aus bankaufsichtlichen Makro-Stresstests berücksichtigen, wenn sie entscheiden, in welchem Umfang sie Banken Finanzierungsmittel, z.B. über Einlagen oder Kauf von Anleihen, zur Verfügung stellen sollen. Zum anderen betrachtet das Papier die Frage nach der optimalen Ausgestaltung von Makro-Stresstests durch die Bankenaufsicht, wenn es deren Ziel ist, einen gesamtwirtschaftlich optimalen Umfang an Bankaktivitäten durch Sicherstellung der hierfür notwendigen Finanzierung durch Investoren zu gewährleisten.

Die Analyse bedient sich einer Modellierung, die in den größeren Kreis der *Persuasion Games*, eine Untergruppe der *Cheap Talk Games*, einzuordnen ist. Bankenaufseher sind hierbei in der Lage, mittels Makro-Stresstests Informationen über den tatsächlichen Zustand eines Bankensektors zu generieren. Sollte die Bankenaufsicht jedoch versuchen, das Entscheidungsverhalten von Investoren durch Veröffentlichung von Stresstest-Ergebnissen zu beeinflussen, sieht sie sich mit einem Glaubwürdigkeitsproblem konfrontiert. Grundsätzlich könnten Investoren zunächst davon ausgehen, dass die Offenlegung von Stresstest-Ergebnissen durch die Bankenaufsicht keine verlässliche Information über den wahren Zustand des Bankensystems darstellt (Cheap Talk).

Die spieltheoretische Analyse des vorliegenden Papiers zeigt jedoch, dass Bankenaufseher durch eine gezielte Ausgestaltung von Makro-Stresstests und anschließende Offenlegung von Informationen sowohl über die Stresstest-Methode als auch über das Stresstest-Ergebnis in einer Art und Weise auf das Entscheidungsverhalten der Investoren einwirken können, die sich positiv auf die Gesamtwohlfahrt auswirkt. Darüber hinaus kann gezeigt werden, dass optimal ausgestaltete bankaufsichtliche Makro-Stresstests in jedem Fall zu einer Verbesserung der Informationslage (der Investoren) im Bankensektor führen. Allerdings sollten bankaufsichtliche Makro-Stresstests optimalerweise nicht zur vollständigen Beseitigung der Unsicherheit der Investoren über den tatsächlichen Zustand des Bankensektors führen. Nur so kann extremes Verhalten der Investoren (z.B. nahezu vollständiger Rückzug aus der Bankenfinanzierung oder Eingehen hoch riskanter Finanzierungen) vermieden werden.

Contents

1	Introduction			1
2	Model			5
	2.1 Primitives		ives	5
	2.2 Timing		6	
	2.3 Preferences		7	
	2.4 Investor beliefs		8	
		2.4.1	Bayesian updating	8
		2.4.2	Distribution of investors' posterior beliefs and uncertainty	10
		2.4.3	Investor decisions	12
		2.4.4	Bayesian Plausibility and the value of informative disclosure $% \left({{{\bf{n}}_{{\rm{s}}}}} \right)$.	13
3	Optimal disclosure			16
	3.1 The supervisor's problem		16	
	3.2 Optimality of informative disclosure		17	
	3.3	Welfar	e	20
4	Conclusion 2			20
A	A Proof of Lemma 1: FSD shift of investor beliefs distribution			21
В	Proof of Lemma 2: Bayesian Plausibility			23
\mathbf{C}	Bayesian Plausibility in the supervisor's optimization problem 24			

Persuasion by Stress Testing – Optimal Disclosure of Supervisory Information in the Banking Sector¹

1 Introduction

It is common knowledge that banks improve the allocation of capital in an economy and in so doing, increase social welfare. Since Diamond and Dybvig (1983), scholars have systematically researched how such processes work and what the options are for a banking system to provide adequate forms of liquidity to borrowers. One of the most prominent forms of liquidity provision occurs through maturity transformation, by which banks convert securities with short maturities into the long-term forms of liquidity that borrowers frequently request.

It lies in the very nature of such transformation processes that they come with a risk: creating liquidity may cause financial fragility, as the banking system may become unstable when investors do not have the necessary knowledge about borrowers,² and this instability may spread throughout the whole banking system.³

In this context, it is easy to see why Jaime Caruana, the General Manager of the Bank for International Settlements, has emphasized in particular that

"[...] strengthened, transparent disclosure is good for markets, because it helps investors make more informed decisions."⁴

Transparency is valuable as it improves the information accessible to investors, and this increased transparency reduces uncertainty, leading to better risk-adjusted behavior on the investors' side.

Stress tests represent a very prominent form of information disclosure pursued by institutional supervisors. The European Banking Authority, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in the U.S., as well as national supervisory authorities

¹We thank participants at the Seminar of the Deutsche Bundesbank in April 2012, the EARIE 2012 in Rome, and the 2012 meeting of the German Finance Association, our discussants Mikhel Tombak and Christoph Schmidhammer, as well as Günther Franke and Eva Schliephake for comments. All remaining errors are ours.

²See e.g. Freixas and Rochet (2008), as well as Diamond and Rajan (2001).

³See Allen and Gale (2000).

⁴Caruana, J. (2011), p. 2.

in the U.K. and in Japan, respectively, have designed and performed a series of new stress tests over the past few years. Strikingly, the number of countries *publishing* bank stress tests has increased from 0 to 40 over the past decade.⁵ An unprecedented fact is the frequency by which such macroeconomic stress tests are being performed, which undoubtedly will shatter the commonly-perceived underestimation of their impact, and one may safely assume that larger and more centralized supervisory authorities will prefer to make more use of such tests rather than less.

Two new papers support this view, namely that enhanced transparency through disclosing stress test results is beneficial to financial stability. First, Goldstein and Sapra (2012), who research the impact of disclosure on ex-ante incentives of banks, are strongly in favor of a public disclosure of stress-test results. The authors believe "that – at least from a financial stability perspective – the benefits of disclosing stress test results are undeniable."⁶

Second, an empirical paper by Horvath and Vasco (2012) shows that the degree of transparency concerning financial stability has significantly increased since 2000, which underpins the general viewpoint concerning the value of transparency. More interestingly, they find that greater transparency is beneficial during typical financial periods financial stress is low. Yet, Horvath and Vasco (2012) also detect that greater transparency will *increase* financial stress when financial systems are undergoing a time of severe distress, in which situations more transparency may lead to adverse effects.⁷ This result is addressed in our paper in a borderline case where the banking sector is completely vulnerable. In this special case, disclosure optimally remains uninformative.

In this light, striving for more transparency has undoubtedly become a central issue for a sector that many authors have described as the epitome of an "opaque" industry.⁸ That stress tests will, in general, *reduce* the inherent degree of opacity in the banking sector, has been emphasized by Peristiani et al. (2010) in their study. While they see banks as "neither black boxes nor open books," the argument that stress tests will generally permit to reduce bank opaqueness can also be found in recent research done by Petrella and Resti (2011) and their analysis of stress tests performed by the European Banking Authority. Significant market reactions reveal that stress tests do help investors make better decisions.

A clarification is in order. While empirical studies show that stress tests leads to a reduction of bank opaqueness, *opacity* is also an issue in central bank's communication and monetary policy. Opacity, in this context, seems to remain a generally accepted fact to which economists have not added much new insight. For example, Stein (1989), in an early application of Crawford and Sobel's (1982) seminal article

⁵See Horvath and Vasco (2012).

⁶Goldstein and Sapra (2012), p. 2.

⁷We also thank Günther Franke for a similar argument.

⁸Morgan (2000), Haggard and Howe (2007).

on strategic information transmission to central bank disclosure policies, has argued that in equilibrium, disclosure between a public authority and an uninformed investor should optimally remain coarse and limited.

Morris and Shin (2000, 2002) have argued that public information is a doubleedged instrument. The private information that actors possess may in some situations render public information detrimental for a central bank's policy. Disclosing all available public (and noisy) information may then lead to suboptimal decision making, as receivers will put too much weight on the noise in the public information. James and Lawler (2011) confirm the aspect that disclosing too much information will have adverse effects and decrease welfare.⁹ However, it should be added that Morris and Shin's (2002) work has actually opened up an extended discussion, in which their model has been interpreted as arguing in favor of more transparency, as Svensson (2006) and Morris, Shin and Tong (2006) have shown in two replies.

Our explanation is entirely different in its approach. We offer a Bayesian persuasion game with multiple receivers to explain why macro stress tests are performed. We believe that opacity, while at the center of explanations concerning central bank policies over the past decades, cannot account for the specific nature of stress tests. Based on the disclosure process that makes use of two pieces of information, we propose a new theory that contrasts with earlier work. Macroeconomic stress tests, the way they are perceived by financial markets and the "dialogue about financial stability vulnerabilities"¹⁰ require a new understanding that this paper is set out to deliver.

What we know is that a supervisory agency both discloses the stress test *design*, and the result. It is this property that carries a new viewpoint. Why informed supervisors are willing to disclose multiple pieces of information has, to our best knowledge, not been analyzed at all in the context of financial and supervisory disclosure. We show that a public banking authority can generally "persuade" investors over a wide range of (prior) beliefs to take actions toward a socially optimal tradeoff between individual risk bearing and the provision of liquidity to the banking sector. By making optimal use of two informational components (the result and the signal-generating process) stress tests will influence a continuum of prudent investors toward an optimal and risk-adjusted provision of liquidity to the economy, and, in doing so, they increase welfare.

The theoretical framework that we develop belongs to a new class of disclosure games, called Bayesian persuasion games. While still belonging to the larger strand of literature on cheap talk in the tradition of Crawford and Sobel (1982), persuasion games lift this literature onto a new level, permitting new insights into disclosure processes between an informed sender and uninformed receivers. Bayesian

⁹This, again, contrasts with the findings of Horvath and Vasco (2012).

 $^{^{10}}$ Borio et al., 2011, p. 18.

persuasion games assume that the sender can, to some extent, control the communication environment of the receiver(s). When there is more than just one signal that is, when the sender can use the signal-generating process as it takes place in stress-testing procedures to deliver *additional* information to the receiver – the game reveals properties that are much different than those found in standard cheap-talk games. Since he knows that the receivers will update their prior beliefs by using Bayes' rule, the sender will be willing to perform such a test. This specific feature permits the sender to *commit to disclose*, even when the test results are not known to him *ex ante*. The capability of the sender to commit to such a procedure now eliminates a well-known drawback of cheap talk games, namely that messages are arbitrary for a wide range of beliefs, and therefore create strategic complexity.¹¹ Consequently, the players always face the problem of coordinating on a common language. In persuasion games, this problem is eliminated by the fact that now the sender creates a "meaning" of messages. Because of this property, persuasion games now exhibit commitment power, and the sender no longer needs to best respond to any strategy of the receiver(s).¹²

This specific literature on persuasion games¹³ has been laid out in one seminal article: Kamenica and Gentzkow (2011) (KG hereafter), and this in a setting with one sender and one receiver. KG show for a wide range of parameters that the sender is strictly better off disclosing *both* pieces of information.

In an application different from ours, and with an extension toward a (discrete) multi-receiver setting, Wang (2012) analyzes voting rules in setups with public and private disclosure. Our paper differs from hers in several ways. We do not analyze majority voting; in our model, every investor's behavior is influenced by the supervisor. Moreover, we limit our analysis to public signals, that is, we exclude the option of the sender to privately disclose different signals to a subset of receivers.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 introduces the model, defining the timing of the game, players' preferences and the supervisor's utility function, the investor decisions, and the value of disclosure, treating the issue of Bayesian Plausibility in a continuous multi-receiver setting. Section 3 determines the supervisor's problem, deriving conditions for optimal disclosure, studying the benchmark of uninformative disclosure, and it expands on some welfare implications. Section 4 concludes. The proofs to all lemmas are given in the appendix.

 $^{^{11}}$ See Sobel, 2010.

¹²Sobel (2010) in his overview shows furthermore that even under arbitrary choices of messages, coordination failures disappear.

¹³For a different treatment see Chakraborty and Harbaugh (2011) and their multidimensional cheap-talk model without commitment and large biases.

2 Model

2.1 Primitives

Consider a setting with two types of agents: a single banking supervisor (sender) and a (infinitely) large number of investors (receivers). The supervisor (S) owns a technology (a stress testing mechanism) that provides him with reliable information about the true status of the banking sector under his control. While information acquisition is costly, these costs are fixed and do not depend on the information revealed about the banking sector. We assume a binary state space of the supervisor's information: either the banking sector is firm / sound (F) or vulnerable (V), meaning that some adverse situation or crisis hurts the banking sector either only marginally or heavily. We formally summarize this binary state space by $\Theta = \{F, V\}$ where θ denotes a realization of a certain stress testing exercise. The prior (objective) probability distribution over Θ is Pr(V) = p and Pr(F) = 1 - p.

The investors (R) do not know the state of the banking sector, but they hold prior beliefs (b) about the probability that the banking sector is vulnerable. These priors may be considered to arise from experiences over past periods, or they may be based on the evaluation of other institutions such as rating agencies. Prior beliefs are, hence, considered to be heterogenous among investors.

We assume that the total number of investors is infinitely large and can be normalized to one. Further, let g(b) denote the continuous function which represents the distribution of prior beliefs over all investors. The corresponding continuous function G(b) denotes the cumulative distribution function of prior beliefs as well as the number of investors having prior beliefs of, at most, b.

Based on their individual beliefs, investors make their investment decisions and choose an action in the action space. They decide on their behavior in the banking sector. The action space of investors is assumed to be binary as well: investors may either act prudently (P) or riskily (R). Prudent behavior means that the investor under consideration believes that the banking sector is vulnerable and is, therefore, willing to provide funding to banks (e.g. by depositing money with banks or by buying bank bonds) only to a minimum amount which is backed by some deposit insurance mechanism or through State guarantees. All investors whose individual beliefs are beyond some threshold probability b_T behave this way. Risky behavior, in contrast, refers to decisions that result in investors providing much more funds to the banking sector than the benchmark would minimally suggest. This latter behavior occurs when investors choose individual beliefs below the threshold probability, b_T . The binary action space will be denoted by $A = \{P, R\}$ in the following, and a denotes a certain realization. The threshold probability b_T then defines when investors prefer to switch from risky to prudent behavior because they believe that the probability that the banking sector is vulnerable is too high.

What essentially follows from these assumptions is that they imply an overall distribution of beliefs, which now determines the total number of investors who behave prudently or riskily, respectively. Specifically, $G(b_T) = Pr(b \leq b_T)$ is the total number of investors who prefer a risky strategy whereas $1-G(b_T) = Pr(b > b_T)$ is the total number of prudent investors given their prior beliefs.

2.2 Timing

The timing of the game is as follows. First, the supervisor chooses an information disclosure mechanism π to induce investors to act in the supervisor's interest. The information disclosure mechanism consists of two elements: a signal from a binary realization space of the supervisor's stress tests results $D \in \{f, v\}$, plus a related family of conditional distributions $\{\pi | \cdot \}_{\theta \in \Theta}$ over D. The conditional distributions follow the design, result, and accuracy of stress tests. In mathematical terms, the design of a stress test determines the probabilities of the result $d \in D$, given that the true state of the banking sector is $\theta \in \Theta$. That is, we assume that the supervisor does not cheat on investors about the stress test result. Rather, the stress-test result will be always reported truthfully. Yet the supervisor can design the stress test in such a way that an incorrect result becomes more or less likely.

Let $\pi(v|V)$ ($\pi(f|V)$) and $\pi(f|F)$ ($\pi(v|F)$) denote the probabilities that the stress test generates correct (incorrect) results. The stress test design determines the following probabilities:

$$\pi(v|V) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \pi(f|F)$$
$$\pi(f|V) = 1 - \pi(v|V) \qquad \qquad \pi(v|F) = 1 - \pi(f|F)$$

In the next step, the supervisor carries out a stress testing exercise, observes (privately) stress test result $d \in D$ and reports this result together with the full information about the stress test's design, i.e. $\pi(\cdot)$, to investors.

The investors, thereafter, observe both the supervisor's choice of the stress test mechanism and the stress test realizations to decide on either a prudent or a risky action to provide funding to the banking sector.

As already mentioned in the introduction, information disclosure in our model as well as in KG does not only mean to send out a single message as in standard models of cheap talk. Instead, disclosure includes information about the signalgenerating process *and* about the obtained signal as the supervisor in our model reveals information to the public about the stress test design (including underlying assumption, information regarding the data analysis, and so on) *and* the outcome of the stress test.

2.3 Preferences

Investors' preferences strongly depend on making correct investment decisions. For simplicity, let these utilities take values of 1 or 0: each investor receives a utility of 1 if he makes the correct decision, $U_R(P, V) = U_R(R, F)$. Otherwise, his utility remains $U_R(P, F) = U_R(R, V) = 0.^{14}$

The general aim of banking supervisors is the promotion of stability of the banking sector (cf. BCBS, 2011, para 1). In this regard there are, however, two aspects that a supervisor needs to take into account. First, while acknowledging the economic role of banks in providing financing to private households, firms, and governments supervisors are also aware that the banking sector requires funding. The banking literature, in turn, has shown that the structure of banks' balance sheets, i.e. using short-term liabilities to fund long-term assets, makes individual banks as well as the banking sector as a whole vulnerable to shocks in the financial or economic environment.¹⁵ Second, the supervisor is aware of the fact that investors suffer in terms of utility when their investment decisions turn out to be incorrect. It is crucial for an understanding that both aspects are interrelated: information disclosed by the supervisor may cause investor reactions that affect bank funding and in this way the stability of the banking sector.

A supervisor's utility function has therefore to consider both aspects. First, the supervisor is aware of the fact that herding behavior of investors - either too many investors acting prudently or too many investors acting riskily - may negatively impact the banking sector as a whole. With too many prudent investors banks may face severe funding problems which may in the end make the system even more vulnerable. In turn, with too many investors acting riskily, banks may find themselves in a situation of excess liquidity which may trigger excessive risk taking of banks in order to profitably invest available funds. But excessive risk taking will also aggravate the vulnerability of the banking sector.

As a result, given the objective probability p of the banking sector being vulnerable, we assume that there exists a certain number of prudent investors $|P|^{max}$ that maximizes the supervisor's utility. That is, for a given p at $|P|^{max}$ there is an optimal balance between providing funds to banks and investors' preference for correct investment decisions. A higher number of prudent investors, on the one hand, may increase the danger of aggravating the vulnerability of the banking sector by a shortage of bank funding. On the other hand, fewer prudent investors may also increase the danger of aggravating the banking sector's vulnerability due excessive

¹⁴Although each single investor makes his own decision we do not use an index for a certain investor. This is only for notational convenience and does not affect results because investors do not differ regarding utility functions.

¹⁵See, eg, Diamond and Dybvig (1983), Diamond (1997), Diamond and Rajan (2001), and Allen and Gale (2000).

risk taking of banks.

In addition, when the supervisor designs the disclosure mechanism (including the stress test design), the final outcome of the stress test and therefore the investors' responses to information disclosure, will remain uncertain. The supervisor can only form expectations about investor behavior. Therefore we assume in the following that the supervisor's utility function is invariant to the stress test outcome. Furthermore the utility function is considered hill-shaped, reaching a maximum at $|P|^{max}$ and being zero at the extremes when either all investors act prudently or all investors act riskily.

Put in more formal terms, let $U_S(|P|)$ denote the supervisor's utility as a function of the number |P| of prudent investors, i.e. investors who choose a = P.¹⁶ The supervisor's utility becomes zero when either all investors act riskily or all investors act prudently. Moreover, there exists a number $|P|^{max} \in (0; 1)$ where the supervisor's utility reaches a maximum U_S^{max} .¹⁷ In sum, we assume the following continuously differentiable hill-shaped curve representing the supervisor's utility:

$$U_S = U_S(|P|)$$
 with $U'_S(|P|) > (<)0 \ \forall \ |P| < (>)|P|^{max}$ and $U'_S(|P|^{max}) = 0.$ (1)

2.4 Investor beliefs

2.4.1 Bayesian updating

By choosing the appropriate stress test design, the supervisors define the framework which shows investors - connected to the commitment assumption - how to update prior beliefs using Bayes' rule when the stress test shows a specific outcome. As in KG, Wang (2011) and Sobel (2010), the supervisor is able to influence investor behavior in a certain way.

Digression: The Single-Receiver Case (following KG)

Before introducing our multi-receiver model, it seems worthwhile to briefly illustrate the standard persuasion game between a single investor (receiver), who, con-

¹⁶Due to our assumptions, |P| is found by inserting the threshold probability b_T in the cumulative distribution function of investor beliefs in a given situation. For instance, in the case of a non-informative disclosure mechanism we have $|P| = 1 - G(b_T)$. In the case of effective information disclosure we have $|P| = 1 - \hat{G}_v(b_T)$ and $|P| = 1 - \hat{G}_f(b_T)$ when the supervisor discloses signal d = v and d = f, respectively.

¹⁷We do not explicitly consider p to be an argument of $U_S(\cdot)$ as we earlier assumed that p is given exogenously. That is, given the (objective) probability p there exists a socially optimal number of prudent investors that maximizes the supervisor's utility. Note that $|P|^{max}$ may change with the exogenously given probability p.

ditional on observing that the banking sector is sound (state F), holds prior beliefs $\hat{x} = \pi(v|F)$ and $\hat{y} = \pi(f|F)$. In KG, the sender maximizes the overall probability to convince the receiver to change his or her mind about investing:

$$\max p\hat{x} + (1-p)\hat{y}$$

s.t. $\hat{y} \ge \frac{1}{2}$.

The informed sender will optimally choose a pair of \hat{x} and \hat{y} such that the receiver, upon observing this pair, will update his beliefs toward the following posterior probabilities:

$$\mu(V|f) = \frac{(1-\hat{y})(1-p)}{(1-\hat{x})p + (1-\hat{y})(1-p)} \le \frac{1}{2}$$

and

$$\mu(V|v) = \frac{\hat{y}(1-p)}{p\hat{x} + \hat{y}(1-p)} \ge \frac{1}{2}$$

As a specific situation emerging in the one-receiver KG case, optimality requires that the first Bayes' rule has a zero numerator and updating is impossible. Still, the posterior probability is derived from the second Bayes' rule, solving optimally¹⁸

$$p\hat{x} + (1-p)\hat{y} = 2(1-p)\hat{y}$$

What differs in our model from those of KG and Wang (2011) is that each single investor updates his own beliefs based on individual priors. That is, because we consider a large number of investors with heterogenous prior beliefs, the magnitude (but not the direction) of Bayesian updating also differs among investors. Formally this may be written as follows. First, - as in KG (2011), Wang (2011) and Sobel (2010) - let $\mu_b(\theta|d)$ denote the posterior belief of an investor with individual prior realization b that the true state of the banking sector is θ when the supervisor discloses d and applies a stress test design $\{\pi|\cdot\}_{\theta\in\Theta}$. In particular the posteriors for any prior belief b are:

$$\mu_b(V|v) = \frac{\pi(v|V)\cdot b}{\pi(v|V)b + \pi(v|F)(1-b)} \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_b(F|f) = \frac{\pi(f|F)\cdot(1-b)}{\pi(f|V)b + \pi(f|F)(1-b)} \quad \mu_b(V|f) = \frac{\pi(f|V)\cdot b}{\pi(f|V)b + \pi(f|F)(1-b)}$$
(2)

¹⁸See a detailed description for the multi-receiver case in the next subsection on Bayesian updating with many receivers.

when the supervisor discloses d = v and d = f, respectively. As a consequence, Bayesian updating will affect the cumulative distribution function of investors' beliefs. The following subsection describes how the stress test design $\{\pi | \cdot\}_{\theta \in \Theta}$ and the stress test outcome d jointly affect investor beliefs.

2.4.2 Distribution of investors' posterior beliefs and uncertainty

Since the stress test design $\{\pi|\cdot\}_{\theta\in\Theta}$ is public information and does *not* depend on the prior belief of any single investor, the outcome of the stress tests will affect beliefs of *all* investors to the same direction. Consider the borderline case in which a stress test is completely uninformative. That is, it must be true that $\mu_b(V|v) = \mu_b(V|f)$ and $\mu_b(F|v) = \mu_b(F|f)$ for any *b* and $\pi(v|V) = \pi(f|V) = \pi(v|F) = \pi(f|F) = \frac{1}{2}$.¹⁹

Now, making the stress test informative - i.e. setting $\pi(v|V) > \frac{1}{2}$ and/or $\pi(f|F) > \frac{1}{2}$ - works as follows:²⁰

$$\pi(v|V) > \frac{1}{2} \Rightarrow \mu_b(V|v) > \mu_b(V|f) \text{ and } \mu_b(F|f) > \mu_b(F|v) \forall b$$

where the last part follows from $\pi(f|V) = 1 - \pi(v|V)$ and the definition of posterior beliefs (2) above. Moreover, perfectly analogously and using the same reasoning we now observe the following:

$$\pi(f|F) > \frac{1}{2} \Rightarrow \mu_b(F|f) > \mu_b(F|v) \text{ and } \mu_b(V|v) > \mu_b(V|f) \forall b.$$

In a next step, let $x \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ and $y \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ denote the level of precision – ie the amount by which $\pi(v|V)$ and $\pi(f|F)$ exceed $\frac{1}{2}$ – of the signal d = v and d = f, respectively.

These observations already lead to two results. First, although the supervisor can decide about the precision of a certain signal, i.e. d = v and d = f, basically separately, there is an interaction between both. This interaction will make signals

¹⁹Note that
$$\mu(V|v) = \mu(V|f)$$
 and $\mu(F|v) = \mu(F|f)$ both require

$$\frac{\pi(v|F)}{\pi(v|V)} = \frac{\pi(f|F)}{\pi(f|V)}.$$

Due to $\pi(v|V) = 1 - \pi(f|V)$ and $\pi(v|F) = 1 - \pi(f|F)$ the former condition holds if and only if $\pi(v|V) = \pi(f|V) = \pi(v|F) = \pi(f|F) = \frac{1}{2}$.

²⁰While $\pi(v|V) < \frac{1}{2}$ may occur, we limit our attention to the case with $\pi(v|V) > \frac{1}{2}$ in the case of informative disclosure. The reason is twofold: first, $\pi(v|V) > \frac{1}{2}$ refers to a situation of truthful disclosure, which directly translates into investor utility. Second, $\pi(v|V) < \frac{1}{2}$ simply means that the supervisor is likely to send a signal that is exactly the opposite of the true state. Since investors will know the disclosure mechanism, this supervisory strategy will cause investors to decide inversely.

reinforce each other in terms of their precision. As a consequence, posterior beliefs are driven by the precision of both signals as well as their interaction. The second result is that the relations hold for any arbitrary prior investor belief b.

This gives the model the following interesting twist: when the supervisor's disclosure mechanism is informative, the public signal $d \in D$ will crucially affect the cumulative distribution function of posterior beliefs. Therefore, let $\hat{G}_v(\cdot)$ and $\hat{G}_f(\cdot)$ denote the cumulative distribution functions of posterior beliefs in the case of signals d = v and d = f, respectively. Further, for any b, let us denote $\hat{b}_v(b) = \mu_b(V|v)$ and $\hat{b}_f(b) = \mu_b(V|f)$ as the respective posterior beliefs that the banking sector is vulnerable when signals d = v and d = f are observable. Then, for any b, the above arguments imply:

$$\pi(v|V) > \frac{1}{2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \hat{b}_v(b) \ge b \text{ and } \hat{b}_f(b) < b \ \forall \ b \tag{3}$$

$$\Rightarrow \hat{G}_v(b) \le G(b) \text{ and } \hat{G}_f(b) > G(b) \forall b.$$
(4)

and

$$\pi(f|F) > \frac{1}{2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \hat{b}_f(b) \le b \text{ and } \hat{b}_v(b) > b \ \forall \ b \tag{5}$$

$$\Rightarrow \hat{G}_f(b) \ge G(b) \text{ and } \hat{G}_v(b) < G(b) \ \forall \ b.$$
(6)

In words: an informative disclosure mechanism increases or decreases the beliefs of any single investor *relative to his priors*, depending on the disclosed signal – this is what (3) and (5) reveal. As a result, we have for the aggregate setting, depending on the supervisor's signal, that information disclosure now shifts mass to the left tail or to the right tail of the cumulative distribution function – see (4) and (6). We summarize these findings as follows:

Lemma 1 Informative disclosure by the supervisor shifts the cumulative distribution function of investors' beliefs in the sense of first-order stochastic dominance (FSD). The signal v (f) deteriorates (improves) the cumulative distribution function of investor beliefs in the sense of first-order stochastic dominance (FSD) compared to the prior distribution.

Proof: See the appendix.

Note in particular that the FSD shift of the cumulative distribution functions may be formally written as

$$\frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(b|x,y)}{\partial x} \le 0 \text{ and } \frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(b|x,y)}{\partial y} < 0 \ \forall b \tag{7}$$

$$\frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(b|x,y)}{\partial x} > 0 \text{ and } \frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(b|x,y)}{\partial y} \ge 0 \ \forall b.$$
(8)

The FSD shift and the finding that the direction of the FSD shift depends on the stress test outcome d have an important implication regarding the supervisor's decision environment: Implementing an informative stress testing mechanism replaces the certain decision-making situation of the supervisor with an uncertain one. Recall that the supervisor does not know the true state of the banking sector at the time when he decides on the optimal stress testing mechanism. Therefore, the supervisor faces uncertainty about the signal to be sent to investors in a later stage of the game. In the case of an uninformative stress testing mechanism this fact, however, is irrelevant for the supervisor. In this latter case, investors will decide based on their prior beliefs, which implies that the supervisor knows the number of prudent investors with certainty. In contrast, in a situation of informative disclosure the stress test outcome d determines the direction the investors' beliefs shift and, as a result, the number of prudent investors. As the stress test outcome d is unknown at the time when the stress test mechanism is designed, the supervisor creates an environment of uncertainty regarding the effective number of prudent investors.

To summarize: when designing an informative disclosure mechanism, the supervisor actually replaces a certain decision-making situation with an uncertain decisionmaking situation *(disclosure lottery)*. Whether this is valuable depends on both the supervisor's utility function and the level of expected utility generated by the disclosure lottery, relative to the utility of the certain situation with uninformative disclosure. In what follows, we analyze this property in great detail.

2.4.3 Investor decisions

Investors, in general, have to choose an action out of their action space $A = \{P, R\}$ in order to maximize individual expected utility. Let, as a general representation, $Pr_i(V)$ and $Pr_i(F)$ denote the individual probabilities (beliefs) of an arbitrary investor *i* that the true state of the banking system is vulnerable (V) or firm (F). Then investor *i*'s expected utility of choosing prudent behavior (a = P) or risky behavior (a = R) is

$$E(U_R(a=P)) = Pr_i(V)U_R(P,V) + Pr_i(F)U_R(P,F) = Pr_i(V)$$
or
$$(9)$$

$$E(U_R(a=R)) = Pr_i(V)U_R(R,V) + Pr_i(F)U_R(R,F) = Pr_i(F), \quad (10)$$

respectively, because of $U_R(P, V) = U_R(R, F) = 1$ and $U_R(P, F) = U_R(R, V) = 0$.

From expected utilities (9) and (10) it is easily verified that an arbitrary investor i is indifferent between a = P and a = R if and only if $Pr_i(V) = Pr_i(F) = \frac{1}{2}$. As a consequence, any investor who believes that $Pr_i(V) \leq \frac{1}{2}$ will choose a = R, and any investor who thinks that $Pr_i(V) > \frac{1}{2}$ will choose a = P. In other words: the threshold probability b_T that we mentioned earlier, which defines when investors

switch from a risky to a prudent strategy is unambiguously

$$b_T = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Specifically, it is irrelevant in this context whether investors revert to their prior beliefs for decision making or whether they update and build posterior beliefs. The mode of decision making is unaffected by setting $Pr_i(V) = b$, $Pr_i(V) = \hat{b}_v(b)$, or $Pr_i(V) = \hat{b}_f(b)$. Therefore, it must be true that $b_T = \frac{1}{2}$ is constant, regardless of the information disclosed by the supervisor.

Supervisory information disclosure, however, may affect the *level* of expected investor utility. In the previous subsection (Lemma 1) we found that an informative disclosure mechanism causes $\hat{b}_v(b) \geq b \forall b$ when the supervisor sends a signal d = v, and $\hat{b}_f(b) \leq b \forall b$ when the supervisor's signal is d = f. That is, in the case where d = v, any investor's expected utility when deciding prudently increases, compared to the situation without supervisory information disclosure. Instead, when supervisor sends d = f, any investor's expected utility of prudent behavior will *decrease*. Therefore, on one hand, investors may prefer to adjust their investment decisions according to the signal received. The supervisor, on the other, is able to affect the investors' expected utility and their choice of actions in the desired way by applying an optimally designed disclosure mechanism.

2.4.4 Bayesian Plausibility and the value of informative disclosure

The standard persuasion literature, which considers games with a single sender and a single receiver, argues that Bayesian Plausibility (BP) is the only restriction imposed on a sender's mechanism.²¹ This implies that the expected posteriors must be equal to the *objective probability* of a specific situation, in an immediate and simple way, as already illustrated in the digression above.

The present model now adds a special twist to the basic setup: with an infinitely large number of investors and with heterogenous prior beliefs, we are now able to generalize BP to find an equilibrium condition. This becomes evident by taking a closer look at the formal representation of BP for the single investor (receiver) case:

$$\mu_b(V|v)Pr(v) + \mu_b(V|f)Pr(f) = p \tag{11}$$

with $Pr(v) = \pi(v|V) \cdot p + \pi(v|F) \cdot (1-p)$ and $Pr(f) = \pi(f|V) \cdot p + \pi(f|F) \cdot (1-p)$.

Although (11) is written for an arbitrary realization b of investors' prior beliefs, it can be shown that (11) does not hold for all (heterogenous) b simultaneously.

²¹See Sobel (2010), p. 20, and Kamenica and Gentzkow (2011), p. 2596.

Calculating the posterior beliefs and taking into account the previous definition of precision of the supervisor's disclosure mechanism, we can rewrite $(11)^{22}$

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)b\frac{\frac{1}{2}-(y-p(x+y))}{\frac{1}{2}-(y-b(x+y))} + \left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)b\frac{\frac{1}{2}+(y-p(x+y))}{\frac{1}{2}+(y-b(x+y))} = p.$$
(12)

Recall that in the basic persuasion model of KG, Bayesian Plausibility (11) requires that posterior beliefs need to be unbiased *in expected terms*. That is, for a persuasion mechanism to work properly, the sender needs to make sure that beliefs are not distorted in a way such that receivers would suffer a welfare loss from acting according to information disclosed. Note that the left-hand side of (11) - ie $\mu_b(V|v)Pr(v) + \mu_b(V|f)Pr(f)$ - represents the (single) receiver's expected utility in the case of prudent behavior.²³ If persuasion increases (decreases) this term beyond (below) the objective probability p, prudent behavior becomes more (less) attractive for a (single) investor. However, due to the distortion, an investor will find himself *ex post* too often in a situation where his initial decision proves to be incorrect. The receiver then realizes $U_R(P,F) = 0$ or $U_R(R,V) = 0$ instead of $U_R(P,V) = 1$ or $U_R(R,F) = 1$ – compared to decision-making based on prior beliefs when ignoring the supervisor's information.

However - and here we differ from the literature such as Wang's (2011) voting model - this cannot hold for every single investor when there are many investors with heterogenous prior beliefs and when the supervisor's disclosure mechanism is publicly known, i.e. (x, y) stays the same for all investors. In this situation (11) or (12) for our particular situation - can only hold for an investor whose prior belief b is exactly identical to the objective probability p of a vulnerable banking sector. That is, except for this latter investor, individual prior beliefs of all other investors will appear more or less distorted compared to the objective probability p.

For instance, all investors with b < (>)p believe that the probability of a vulnerable banking sector is lower (higher) than p. For all these "distorted" investors, an informative disclosure mechanism may correct their individual distortions to *some*

$$\begin{split} \mu_b(V|v) &= \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)b}{\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)b+\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\left(1-b\right)} = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)b}{\frac{1}{2}-\left(y-b(x+y)\right)}\\ \mu_b(V|f) &= \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)b}{\left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)b+\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\left(1-b\right)} = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)b}{\frac{1}{2}+\left(y-b(x+y)\right)}\\ Pr(v) &= \left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)p+\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\left(1-p\right) = \frac{1}{2}-\left(y-p(x+y)\right)\\ Pr(f) &= \left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)p+\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\left(1-p\right) = \frac{1}{2}+\left(y-p(x+y)\right). \end{split}$$

 23 In section 2.4.3 it was shown that an investor's utility of a specific action *a* is given by the (posterior) belief regarding the status of the banking sector.

 $^{^{22}}$ Due to previous definitions we have:

degree. Put differently: an informative disclosure mechanism of the supervisor generates expected posterior beliefs that are higher (lower) than the individual priors of investors in the case of b < p (b > p). We so state and prove

Lemma 2 Bayesian Plausibility in our model with multiple investors (receivers) and heterogenous investor prior beliefs requires

$$\mu_b(V|v)Pr(v) + \mu_b(V|f)Pr(f) = p \iff b = p.$$

Proof: See the Appendix.

From the investors' point of view information disclosure suggests that their individual priors understate or overstate the probability of a vulnerable banking sector in the case of b < p or b > p, respectively:

$$(\frac{1}{2} + x) b \frac{\frac{1}{2} - (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} - (y - b(x + y))} + (\frac{1}{2} - x) b \frac{\frac{1}{2} + (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} + (y - b(x + y))} > b \quad \forall \ b < p(13)$$
 or

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)b\frac{\frac{1}{2}-(y-p(x+y))}{\frac{1}{2}-(y-b(x+y))} + \left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)b\frac{\frac{1}{2}+(y-p(x+y))}{\frac{1}{2}+(y-b(x+y))} < b \qquad \forall \ b > p(14)$$

For these "distorted" investors, the supervisor's disclosure mechanism now corrects (part of) this distortion of prior beliefs *in a way that investor beliefs move toward the true probability of a vulnerable banking sector*. As a consequence, information disclosure helps investors to make correct investment decisions. Against this background, the value of an informative disclosure mechanism for investors becomes evident:

Corollary 3 A disclosure mechanism that is Bayesian plausible according to Lemma 2 raises the expected utility of investors whose prior beliefs deviate from the objective probability of a vulnerable banking sector.

Proof: Note that the left-hand side of (12) represents an investor's expected utility from behaving prudently, acting according to the supervisor's information disclosure, and having prior belief b. Under a Bayesian plausible disclosure mechanism, then, from the proof of Lemma 2 it is immediately clear that informative disclosure by the supervisor increases the expected utility of prudent behavior for all investors who understate the probability of the banking sector being vulnerable (b < p). That is, informative disclosure better aligns the evaluations of latter investors with the true state of the banking system. Moreover, informative disclosure causes investors with $\mu_b(V|v) \geq \frac{1}{2} > b$ to switch from a risky to a prudent investment strategy.

The opposite effect appears to be the case with investors whose priors overstate the true vulnerability of the banking sector. Their expected utility from prudent behavior decreases under a Bayesian plausible disclosure mechanism (see proof of Lemma 2). As a result, investors with $\mu_b(V|v) < \frac{1}{2} \leq b$ switch from a prudent to a risky investment strategy.

For both situations, the proof of Lemma 2 (see Appendix B) shows that under a Bayesian-plausible disclosure mechanism the expected utility of those investors, which change their investment strategy in response to supervisory disclosure, will increase.

In other words, under a Bayesian plausible disclosure mechanism, "distorted" investors' expected utility will increase when they base their decisions on supervisory information instead of prior beliefs. This result is novel to the literature on the disclosure of supervisory information in the banking sector.

3 Optimal disclosure

We now turn to optimality analysis. We now ask whether the supervisor should optimally implement an informative stress testing (disclosure) mechanism. For this purpose, we first state the supervisor's optimization problem before, and then the existence of an informative disclosure mechanism, to derive some welfare implications.

3.1 The supervisor's problem

The supervisor's goal is to maximize his utility while taking into account all the factors that were analyzed in the previous sections. Note that the supervisor's utility function, has a unique maximum when the number of prudent investors is exactly $|P|^{max}$. Therefore, when the supervisor finds himself in a situation where the investors' prior beliefs result in²⁴

$$|P|^{max} = 1 - G(\frac{1}{2}),$$

the supervisor will refrain from implementing any informative disclosure mechanism as this cannot increase his utility.

In the following we consider situations when prior beliefs generate numbers of prudent investors which deviate from $|P|^{max}$. In this context there are two possibilities: either we have $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) < |P|^{max}$ (case a)) or we have $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) > |P|^{max}$ (case

²⁴Note that in section 2.4.3 we argued that the unique threshold when investors switch from a risky to a prudent investment strategy is $b_T = \frac{1}{2}$.

b)). Against this background the supervisor's objective is to design an informative disclosure mechanism – by choosing x and y – such that the distance between the supervisor's maximum utility and the expected utility realized by informative disclosure is minimized:

$$\min_{x,y} \Delta U_S \equiv Pr(v) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + Pr(f) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right)$$
with
$$Pr(v) = \left(\frac{1}{2} + x \right) p + \left(\frac{1}{2} - y \right) (1 - p)$$

$$Pr(f) = \left(\frac{1}{2} - x \right) p + \left(\frac{1}{2} + y \right) (1 - p)$$

$$x, y \in (0, \frac{1}{2}).$$
(15)

Recall that, in optimization problem (15), U_S^{max} denotes the supervisor's maximum possible utility, which is achieved when $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) = |P|^{max}$. Furthermore $1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})$ and $1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})$ denote the number of prudent investors when the supervisor sends signals d = v and d = f, respectively. Bayesian Plausibility is implicitly considered in the cumulative distribution functions of the investors' posterior beliefs $\hat{G}_v(\cdot)$ and $\hat{G}_f(\cdot)$.²⁵

3.2 Optimality of informative disclosure

The analysis of optimal information disclosure starts with the derivation of the firstorder necessary conditions of optimization problem (15):

$$\frac{\partial \Delta U_S}{\partial x} = p \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \right) - p \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + Pr(v) U_S'(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} + Pr(f) U_S'(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} = 0 \quad (16)$$

$$\frac{\partial \Delta U_S}{\partial x} = -(1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1 - p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 -$$

$$\frac{1-2}{\partial y} = -(1-p)\left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1-G_v(\frac{1}{2}))\right) + (1-p)\left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1-G_f(\frac{1}{2}))\right) + Pr(v)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} + Pr(f)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} = 0.$$
(17)

The following considerations, which are essential to our analysis, build on a number of insights regarding cumulative distribution functions \hat{G}_v and \hat{G}_f to which we refer in great detail in section 2.4.2 as well as in the Appendix. First, it should be noted that the numbers of prudent investors are determined by the cumulative distribution functions of prior and posterior beliefs and that – due to the features of these functions – the following relation always holds:

$$1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}) \le 1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) \le 1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}).$$

 $^{^{25}}$ See the Appendix for a formal proof.

Second, for the partial derivatives of the cumulative distribution functions of investor beliefs setting $\gamma = \frac{1}{2}$ (see appendix) yields

$$\frac{\partial \hat{G}_{v}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} = -g\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}-y}{1+x-y}\right) \frac{\frac{1}{2}-y}{[1+x-y]^{2}} \leq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} = g\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}+y}{1-x+y}\right) \frac{\frac{1}{2}+y}{[1-x+y]^{2}} > 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} = g\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}+y}{1-x+y}\right) \frac{\frac{1}{2}-x}{[1-x+y]^{2}} \geq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} = g\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}+y}{1-x+y}\right) \frac{\frac{1}{2}-x}{[1-x+y]^{2}} \geq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} = g\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}+y}{1-x+y}\right) \frac{\frac{1}{2}-x}{[1-x+y]^{2}} \geq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} \leq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} \geq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} \geq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} \geq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} \geq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\frac$$

We are now able to derive the following lemma from the first-order necessary conditions (16) and (17):

Lemma 4 It is never optimal for the supervisor to implement an informative disclosure mechanism that either shifts $1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})$ beyond $|P|^{max}$ in case a), i.e. in the case when $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) < |P|^{max}$, or that shifts $1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})$ below $|P|^{max}$ in case b), i.e. in the case when $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) > |P|^{max}$.

In words: it is not optimal for the supervisor to disclose information in a way that in the case of a signal d = f the number of prudent investors is below $|P|^{max}$, whereas in the case of the signal d = v the number of prudent investors is beyond $|P|^{max}$.

Proof: Assume, to the contrary, that the informative disclosure mechanism causes $1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}) < |P|^{max}$ and $1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}) > |P|^{max}$. This implies $U'_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) > 0$ and $U'_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) < 0$. Then, for the first-order condition (16) to hold

$$U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) < U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}))$$

is required to hold because of relations (19) and Pr(v), Pr(f) > 0.

Analogous reasoning for the other first-order condition (17), reveals that this holds only if

$$U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) > U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})),$$

a contradiction. Therefore, it must be true that an optimal disclosure mechanism ensures $1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}) \leq 1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}) \leq |P|^{max}$ in case of $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) < |P|^{max}$ and $|P|^{max} \leq 1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}) \leq 1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})$ in case of $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) > |P|^{max}$.

Building on the above lemma, we now state our main result in the following proposition:

Proposition 1 In either case, i.e. in case a) as well as in case b), there exists an unique optimum (x^*, y^*) with $0 < x^*, y^* < \frac{1}{2}$. In other words, in the case where

 $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) < |P|^{max}$ as well as in the case where $1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) > |P|^{max}$ there exists an informative (but not fully revealing) disclosure mechanism that minimizes the distance between the supervisor's maximum utility and the expected utility arising from informative disclosure.

Proof: Consider case a) first. If the disclosure mechanism is informative, it is easy to see that by the first result above we have $1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}) < 1 - G(\frac{1}{2}) < 1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}) \leq |P|^{max}$ must be true. The corresponding utilities for the supervisor are, then, ranked $U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) < U_S(1 - G(\frac{1}{2})) < U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \leq U_S^{max}$. This implies $0 < U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) < U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}))$ and

$$p\left(U_{S}^{max} - U_{S}(1 - \hat{G}_{v}(\frac{1}{2}))\right) - p\left(U_{S}^{max} - U_{S}(1 - \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2}))\right) < 0$$

and
$$-(1 - p)\left(U_{S}^{max} - U_{S}(1 - \hat{G}_{v}(\frac{1}{2}))\right) + (1 - p)\left(U_{S}^{max} - U_{S}(1 - \hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2}))\right) > 0$$

for the first lines of the first-order conditions (16) and (17), respectively. Therefore, the first-order condition (16) hold if and only if

$$Pr(v)U'_{S}(1-\hat{G}_{v}(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial\hat{G}_{v}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} + Pr(f)U'_{S}(1-\hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial\hat{G}_{f}(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} > 0,$$

and the first-order conditions (17) holds if and only if

$$Pr(v)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} + Pr(f)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} < 0.$$

These conditions, however, are not contradictory since relations (18) and $U'_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})), U'_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) > 0$ in the present case imply

$$0 \ge Pr(v)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} > Pr(v)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y}$$

and
$$0 \le Pr(f)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} < Pr(f)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x}.$$

For case b) the proof is analogous to the that of case a). The only difference with the previous case is that the relationships between terms are reversed and marginal utilities are negative, i.e. $U'_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})), U'_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) < 0.$

Lastly, it follows immediately from Lemma 1 that the optimal disclosure mechanism cannot be fully revealing, ie $(x^*, y^*) \neq (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$: a fully revealing disclosure mechanism implies that $1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}) = 0 < |P|^{max}$ and $1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}) = 1 > |P|^{max}$. Using Lemma 1, it is easy to see that this cannot be optimal.

In the previous analysis we have excluded corner solutions, limiting p to values of less then 1. Our former results are valid as long as there is no crisis going on in the banking sector. For the case when the banking sector is hurt by a systemic crisis, we can easily show that the supervisor will not anymore apply an informative disclosure mechanism. When the banking sector is hit by a crisis, the *objective probability* of a vulnerable banking sector will approach unity.

To illustrate, let p = 1, from which $Pr(v) = \pi(v|V)$ and $Pr(f) = \pi(f|F)$. Moreover, using equation (2) we find that $\mu_b(V|v) = 1$ and $\mu_b(V|f) = 1$ for investors' posterior beliefs when b = p = 1. Applying Bayesian Plausibility (equation (11) and *Lemma* 2) now requires $Pr(v) = \pi(v|V) = \frac{1}{2}$ and $Pr(f) = \pi(f|F) = \frac{1}{2}$. This implies that $Pr(v) = \pi(f|V) = \frac{1}{2}$ and $Pr(f) = \pi(v|F) = \frac{1}{2}$. The outcome in case of an ongoing banking crisis is that the supervisor's disclosure will optimally have to remain uninformative – a result perfectly in line with a number of recent observations made during the subprime crisis of 2007-2009, as well as during the sovereign crisis since 2010.²⁶

3.3 Welfare

Our welfare implications follow immediately from Proposition 1 and Corollary 3. Recall that in Section 2 we argued that due to Bayesian Plausibility and the investors' decision-making process, investors either *gain* from information disclosure or realize *at least the same utility* as in a situation without informative disclosure. Moreover, supervisors always gain as there exists an optimal informative disclosure mechanism with $0 < x^*, y^* < \frac{1}{2}$ that minimizes the distance between the supervisor's maximum possible utility (for a given objective probability p) and the expected utility arising from informative disclosure, which has been shown above in section 3. In sum, total welfare increases as a consequence of the supervisor's optimal information disclosure mechanism.

4 Conclusion

The goal of this paper is to deliver a rationale for macro stress tests and to explain why public supervisors use such a design. We so shed new light on the discussion on transparency and financial stability, which is central to the current financial debate. The paper has shown that disclosing two pieces of information, namely the signal generating process together with a signal, permits institutional supervisors (or banking authorities) to persuade investors (Bayesian receivers) to act in a welfareenhancing way. Our paper shows that to optimally design a stress test (disclosure)

 $^{^{26}}$ See Horvath and Vasco (2012).

mechanism for a continuum of investors, public supervisors will recur to a variety of stress tests and disclose their information to the public, to capture the varying performance of the underlying banking sector.

The disclosure mechanism that we offer reveals some attractive features. It shows a unique interior optimum plus other valuable properties that permit a novel explanation why disclosure processes in the banking sector are designed the way they are. Specifically, our results tell practitioners that the design of disclosure mechanisms such as macro stress tests will induce Bayesian investors to update their beliefs in a direction consistent with the banking authority. In addition, we have shown that for the borderline case of a systemic crisis, disclosure should be optimally uninformative.

While our results are robust and applicable to a wider range of real-world situations, it seems worthwhile to mention related research that this paper may open up and complement, while pointing out differences that may lead to new avenues of research. Note first that in our model, and different from Wang (2012), disclosure is always welfare enhancing. Typically, in our multi-receiver setting and different from KG, the sender will never use a value of zero for one of the parameters x and y. That is, every signal carries additional information. With one of the two parameters set to zero, information would only be conveyed indirectly as solely the remaining parameter can change the distribution of posterior beliefs.

Our setting can also be extended to include banks as players, which may then be differentiated along a new (type-) dimension. In such a model, the supervisor would become the middleman. One possible advantage of such a setup would consist in the option to segment the investment market according to bank types and investor types, involving even more differentiated disclosure processes handled by the supervisor. Needless to say, such a treatment would come at the cost of reduced tractability. Given the already high degree of complexity that we have reached so far, we will leave this avenue, as well, for future research.

A Proof of Lemma 1: FSD shift of investor beliefs distribution

Consider the posteriors of any investor with any prior belief b

$$\hat{b}_{v}(b) = \mu_{b}(V|v) = \frac{(\frac{1}{2} + x)b}{(\frac{1}{2} + x)b + (\frac{1}{2} - y)(1 - b)}$$
$$\hat{b}_{f}(b) = \mu_{b}(V|f) = \frac{(\frac{1}{2} - x)b}{(\frac{1}{2} - x)b + (\frac{1}{2} + y)(1 - b)}$$

where we used the notion of signal precision as defined in section 2.4.2. Changing the precision parameters $x \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ and $y \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$, the mechanism has the following general effect on posterior beliefs:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \hat{b}_v(b)}{\partial x} &= \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2} - y\right)\left(1 - b\right)b}{\left[\left(\frac{1}{2} + x\right)b + \left(\frac{1}{2} - y\right)\left(1 - b\right)\right]^2} \ge 0\\ \frac{\partial \hat{b}_f(b)}{\partial x} &= -\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2} + y\right)\left(1 - b\right)b}{\left[\left(\frac{1}{2} - x\right)b + \left(\frac{1}{2} + y\right)\left(1 - b\right)\right]^2} < 0\\ \frac{\partial \hat{b}_v(b)}{\partial y} &= \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2} + x\right)\left(1 - b\right)b}{\left[\left(\frac{1}{2} + x\right)b + \left(\frac{1}{2} - y\right)\left(1 - b\right)\right]^2} > 0\\ \frac{\partial \hat{b}_f(b)}{\partial y} &= -\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2} - x\right)\left(1 - b\right)b}{\left[\left(\frac{1}{2} - x\right) + \left(\frac{1}{2} + y\right)\left(1 - b\right)\right]^2} \le 0 \end{aligned}$$

where the first and the last line become equal to zero when $y = \frac{1}{2}$ and $x = \frac{1}{2}$, respectively. As a result, a higher level of x implies, *ceteris paribus*, $\hat{b}_v(b) \ge b$ and $\hat{b}_f(b) < b$ for any b whereas a higher level of y implies, *ceteris paribus*, $\hat{b}_v(b) > b$ and $\hat{b}_f(b) \le b$ for any b. That is, from a formal perspective the disclosure mechanism $(D, \{\pi | \cdot \}_{\theta \in \Theta})$ is a monotonic transformation of investor beliefs.²⁷

Let us now denote $\hat{g}_v(b)$ and $\hat{g}_f(b)$ the distribution functions of investors' posterior beliefs when the supervisor sends d = v and d = f, respectively. Given the impact of the signaling mechanism on investor beliefs above, the distribution functions of posteriors can be determined to be:

$$\hat{g}_v(b) : \hat{b}_v(b) \longmapsto g(b) \forall b$$
 (20)

$$\hat{g}_f(b) : \hat{b}_f(b) \longmapsto g(b) \ \forall \ b.$$
 (21)

The corresponding cumulative distribution functions are, by definition,

$$\hat{G}_{v}(\gamma) = \int_{0}^{\gamma} \hat{g}_{v}(\hat{b}_{v}(b))d\hat{b}_{v}(b)$$
$$\hat{G}_{f}(\gamma) = \int_{0}^{\gamma} \hat{g}_{f}(\hat{b}_{f}(b))d\hat{b}_{f}(b).$$

Applying the definitions of $\hat{b}_v(b)$ and $\hat{b}_f(b)$ above allows for the calculation of these cumulative distribution functions based on the distribution of prior beliefs:

$$\hat{G}_{v}(\gamma) = \int_{0}^{\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\gamma} g(b)db$$
(22)

$$\hat{G}_f(\gamma) = \int_{0}^{\frac{(\frac{1}{2}+y)\gamma}{(\frac{1}{2}-x)(1-\gamma)+(\frac{1}{2}+y)\gamma}} g(b)db.$$
(23)

²⁷Note that x and y reinforce each other regarding the impact on investor posteriors when a certain signal is received.

Equations (20) and (21) show first that $x \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ and $y \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ represent parameters which determine the upper limit of the integrals. Therefore the cumulative distributions may be considered to be conditional on x and y, denoted

$$\hat{G}_v(\gamma) \equiv \hat{G}_v(\gamma|x,y) \text{ and } \hat{G}_f(\gamma) \equiv \hat{G}_f(\gamma|x,y) \ \forall \ \gamma.$$

Second, the impact of x and y on the cumulative distributions of posteriors at any $\gamma \in [0, 1]$ can be determined by calculating the partial derivatives:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{v}(\gamma|x,y)}{\partial x} &= -g\left(\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\gamma}{\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)+\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\gamma}\right)\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)\gamma}{\left[\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)+\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\gamma\right]^{2}} \leq 0\\ \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{v}(\gamma|x,y)}{\partial y} &= -g\left(\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\gamma}{\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)+\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\gamma}\right)\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)\gamma}{\left[\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)+\left(\frac{1}{2}-y\right)\gamma\right]^{2}} < 0\\ \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\gamma|x,y)}{\partial x} &= g\left(\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\gamma}{\left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)+\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\gamma}\right)\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)\gamma}{\left[\left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)+\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\gamma\right]^{2}} > 0\\ \frac{\partial \hat{G}_{f}(\gamma|x,y)}{\partial y} &= g\left(\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\gamma}{\left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)+\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\gamma}\right)\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)\gamma}{\left[\left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)\left(1-\gamma\right)+\left(\frac{1}{2}+y\right)\gamma\right]^{2}} \geq 0 \end{aligned}$$

where die inequalities follow from $g(\cdot) > 0$, $x, y \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$, and $\gamma \in [0, 1]$.

B Proof of Lemma 2: Bayesian Plausibility

Let b_{BP} denote the prior belief of the investor for which (12) holds.

Consider the situation $b < b_{BP}$ first. For a given decision (x, y) of the supervisor we observe $y - b(x + y) > y - b_{BP}(x + y)$ which implies $\frac{1}{2} - (y - b(x + y)) < \frac{1}{2} - (y - b_{BP}(x + y))$ and $\frac{1}{2} + (y - b(x + y)) > \frac{1}{2} + (y - b_{BP}(x + y))$. For the fraction terms in (12) we therefore find

$$\frac{\frac{1}{2} - (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} - (y - b(x + y))} > \frac{\frac{1}{2} - (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} - (y - b_{BP}(x + y))}$$

and
$$\frac{\frac{1}{2} + (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} + (y - b(x + y))} < \frac{\frac{1}{2} + (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} + (y - b_{BP}(x + y))}$$

Since $(\frac{1}{2} + x) b \ge (\frac{1}{2} - x) b$ – and note that $b \in [0, 1]$ and $x \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ – we have

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)b\frac{\frac{1}{2}-(y-p(x+y))}{\frac{1}{2}-(y-b(x+y))} + \left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)b\frac{\frac{1}{2}+(y-p(x+y))}{\frac{1}{2}+(y-b(x+y))} > b \qquad \forall \ b < b_{BP}.$$

Regarding the situation $b > b_{BP}$ the arguments are analogous but the previous relations turn in the opposite direction. That is, for a given decision (x, y) we observe $y - b(x+y) < y - b_{BP}(x+y)$, $\frac{1}{2} - (y - b(x+y)) > \frac{1}{2} - (y - b_{BP}(x+y))$ and $\frac{1}{2} + (y - b(x+y)) < \frac{1}{2} + (y - b_{BP}(x+y))$. As a consequence the relations between the fraction terms in (12) are:

$$\frac{\frac{1}{2} - (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} - (y - b(x + y))} < \frac{\frac{1}{2} - (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} - (y - b_{BP}(x + y))}$$

and
$$\frac{\frac{1}{2} + (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} + (y - b(x + y))} > \frac{\frac{1}{2} + (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} + (y - b_{BP}(x + y))}$$

With $(\frac{1}{2} + x) b \ge (\frac{1}{2} - x) b$ we finally have in the current situation:

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}+x\right)b\frac{\frac{1}{2}-(y-p(x+y))}{\frac{1}{2}-(y-b(x+y))} + \left(\frac{1}{2}-x\right)b\frac{\frac{1}{2}+(y-p(x+y))}{\frac{1}{2}+(y-b(x+y))} < b \qquad \forall \ b > b_{BP}.$$

Moreover, the above arguments actually prove that $b_{BP} = p$ is the only feasible opportunity to make persuasion work: Note that for (x, y) = (0, 0) Bayesian Plausibility (12) holds for any possible b. This is trivial because (x, y) = (0, 0) means that the disclosure mechanism is completely non-informative and investors' posteriors are equivalent to their prior beliefs.

Conversely, in the case where $(x, y) \neq (0, 0)$ it is easily verified that Bayesian Plausibility (to reach a high degree of transparency) holds if and only if

$$\frac{\frac{1}{2} - (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} - (y - b(x + y))} = \frac{\frac{1}{2} + (y - p(x + y))}{\frac{1}{2} + (y - b(x + y))}$$

which requires b = p to hold. In words: in the current context Bayesian Plausibility needs to be met only for an investor whose prior belief b equals the *objective* probability for a vulnerable banking sector p.

C Bayesian Plausibility in the supervisor's optimization problem

Consider the supervisor's problem in an explicit form, i.e. including the Bayesian Plausibility constraint (BP):

$$\min_{x,y} \Delta U_S \equiv Pr(v) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + Pr(f) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right)$$
with
$$Pr(v) \hat{b}_v(p) + Pr(f) \hat{b}_f(p) = p \quad (BP)$$

$$Pr(v) = (\frac{1}{2} + x) p + (\frac{1}{2} - y) (1 - p)$$

$$Pr(f) = (\frac{1}{2} - x) p + (\frac{1}{2} + y) (1 - p)$$

$$x, y \in [0, \frac{1}{2}].$$
(24)

Starting from the corresponding Lagrangean

$$\mathcal{L} = Pr(v) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + Pr(f) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + \lambda \left[Pr(v) \hat{b}_v(p) + Pr(f) \hat{b}_f(p) - p \right]$$

and using the Kuhn-Tucker Theorem yields the following first-order necessary conditions:

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} = p\left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}))\right) - p\left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}))\right) + \\
+ Pr(v)U_S'(1 - \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} + Pr(f)U_S'(1 - \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2}))\frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial x} + \\
+ \lambda \left[p\hat{b}_v(p) + Pr(v)\frac{\partial \hat{b}_v(p)}{\partial x} - p\hat{b}_f(p) + Pr(f)\frac{\partial \hat{b}_f(p)}{\partial x}\right] \ge 0; \\
x \ge 0; \quad \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}x = 0$$
(25)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial y} = -(1-p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1-\hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \right) + (1-p) \left(U_S^{max} - U_S(1-\hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) + Pr(v)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})) \frac{\partial \hat{G}_v(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} + Pr(f)U_S'(1-\hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})) \frac{\partial \hat{G}_f(\frac{1}{2})}{\partial y} + \lambda \left[-(1-p)\hat{b}_v(p) + Pr(v) \frac{\partial \hat{b}_v(p)}{\partial y} + (1-p)\hat{b}_f(p) + Pr(f) \frac{\partial \hat{b}_f(p)}{\partial y} \right] \ge 0; \\
y \ge 0; \quad \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial y} y = 0.$$
(26)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = Pr(v)\hat{b}_v(p) + Pr(f)\hat{b}_f(p) - p = 0.$$
(27)

Inspection of terms in square brackets in (25) and (26), which are the derivatives of (BP), shows that they both equal zero: using the explicit formulations of Pr(v),

$$Pr(f), \hat{b}_{v}(p), \hat{b}_{f}(p), \frac{\partial \hat{b}_{v}(p)}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial \hat{b}_{f}(p)}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial \hat{b}_{v}(p)}{\partial y}, \text{ and } \frac{\partial \hat{b}_{f}(p)}{\partial y} \text{ (see the proof of Lemma 1) yields} \\ \begin{bmatrix} p\hat{b}_{v}(p) + Pr(v)\frac{\partial \hat{b}_{v}(p)}{\partial x} - p\hat{b}_{f}(p) + Pr(f)\frac{\partial \hat{b}_{f}(p)}{\partial x} \end{bmatrix} = \\ = p \left[\frac{(\frac{1}{2} + x)p + (\frac{1}{2} - y)(1 - p)}{(\frac{1}{2} + x)p + (\frac{1}{2} - y)(1 - p)} - \frac{(\frac{1}{2} - x)p + (\frac{1}{2} + y)(1 - p)}{(\frac{1}{2} - x)p + (\frac{1}{2} + y)(1 - p)} \right] = \\ = p \left[1 - 1 \right] = 0 \\ \text{and} \\ \left[-(1 - p)\hat{b}_{v}(p) + Pr(v)\frac{\partial \hat{b}_{v}(p)}{\partial y} + (1 - p)\hat{b}_{f}(p) + Pr(f)\frac{\partial \hat{b}_{f}(p)}{\partial y} \right] = \\ = -(1 - p) \left[\frac{(\frac{1}{2} + x)p - (\frac{1}{2} + x)p}{(\frac{1}{2} - y)(1 - p)} - \frac{(\frac{1}{2} - x)p - (\frac{1}{2} - x)p}{(\frac{1}{2} - x)p + (\frac{1}{2} + y)(1 - p)} \right] = \\ = -(1 - p) \left[0 - 0 \right] = 0 \end{aligned}$$

due to $p \in (0, 1)$. Including Bayesian Plausibility (BP) in the supervisor's optimization problem, hence, does not affect the relevant first-order necessary conditions for the optimum. Rather, calculations show that the probability distributions already comprise the crucial features of (BP).

References

Allen, Franklin and Gale, Douglas (2000), "Financial Contagion." Journal of Political Economy 108, pp. 1-33.

BCBS, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (2011), "Basel III: A Global Regulatory Framework For More Resilient Banks and Banking Systems." *Bank for International Settlements, Basel.*

Borio, Claudio, Drehmann, Mathias and Tsatsaronis, Kostas (2012), "Stress-testing macro stress tests: does it live up to expectations?" *Bank for International Settlement*, BIS Working Paper 269.

Caruana, Jaime (2011), "Financial Stability and Risk Disclosure." *Keynote Speech* to the FSB Roundtable on Risk Disclosure, Basel, December 9, 2011.

Chakraborty, Archishman, and Harbaugh, Rick (2010), "Persuasion by Cheap Talk." *American Economic Review* 100(5), pp. 2361-2382.

Crawford, Vincent P., and Sobel, Joel (1982), "Strategic Information Transmission." *Econometrica* 50(6), pp. 1431-1451.

Diamond, Douglas (2011), "Liquidity, Banks, and Markets." *Journal of Political Economy 105*, pp. 928-956.

Diamond, Douglas and Dybvig, Philip (1983), "Bank Runs, Deposit Insurance, and Liquidity." *Journal of Political Economy 91*, pp. 401-419.

Diamond, Douglas and Rajan, Raghuram (2001), "Liquidity Risk, Liquidity Creation, and Financial Fragility: A Theory of Banking." *Journal of Political Economy 109*, pp. 287-327.

Freixas, Xavier and Rochet, Jean-Jacques (2008), *Microeconomics of Banking*, 2nd edition, Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Goldstein, Itay, and Sapra, Haresh (2012), "Should Bank's Stress Test Results Be Disclosed? An Analysis of the Costs and Benefits," Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, mimeo, April 2012.

Haggard, K. Stephen, and Howe, John S. (2007), "Are Banks Opaque?" Department of Economics, Finance and International Business University of Southern Mississippi, mimeo.

Horvath, Roman, and Vasco, Dan (2012), "Central Bank Transparency and Financial Stability: Measurements, Determinants, and Effects," Institute of Economic Studies, Charles University, Prague, September 2012, mimeo.

James, Jonathan G., and P. Lawler (2011), "Optimal Policy Intervention and the Social Value of Public Information." *American Economic Review* 101(4), pp. 1561-1574.

Kamenica, Emir, and Gentzkow, Matthew (2011), "Bayesian Persuasion." *American Economic Review* 101(6), pp. 2590-2615.

Morgan, Donald P. (2000), "Rating Banks: Risk and Uncertainty in an Opaque Industry." Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

Morris, Stephen and Shin, Hyung Song (2000), "Welfare Effects of Public Information." Economic Research Centre of the Deutsche Bundesbank, Discussion paper 7/00.

Morris, Stephen and Shin, Hyung Song (2002), "Social Value of Public Information." American Economic Review 92(5), pp. 1521-1534.

Morris, Stephen, Shin, Hyung Song, and Tong, Hui (2006), "Social Value of Public Information: Morris and Shin (2002) Is Actually Pro-Transparency, Not Con: Reply." *American Economic Review* 96(1), pp. 453-455.

Peristiani, Stavros, Morgan, Donald P., and Savino, Vanessa (2010), "The Information Value of the Stress Test and Bank Opacity," Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

Petrella, Giovanni, and Resti, Andrea (2011), "Supervisors as Information Producers: Do Stress Tests Reduce Bank Opaqueness?", available at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1968681

Sobel, Joel (2010), "Giving and Receiving Advice," Paper presented to the Workshop on Information Transmission and Persuasion in Games, Paris School of Economics, December 16, 2010.

Stein, Jeremy (1989), "Cheap Talk and the Fed: A Theory of Imprecise Policy Announcements," *American Economic Review* 79(1), pp. 32-42.

Svensson, Lars E. O. (2006), "Social Value of Public Information: Comment: Morris and Shin (2002) Is Actually Pro Transparency, Not Con. *American Economic Review* 96(1), pp. 448-452.

Wang, Yun (2012), "Bayesian Persuasion with Multiple Receivers." Department of Economics, University of Pittsburgh, mimeo, April 2012.

The following Discussion Papers have been published since 2012:

01	2012	A user cost approach to capital measurement in aggregate production functions	Thomas A. Knetsch
02	2012	Assessing macro-financial linkages: a model comparison exercise	Gerke, Jonsson, Kliem Kolasa, Lafourcade, Locarno Makarski, McAdam
03	2012	Executive board composition and bank risk taking	A. N. Berger T. Kick, K. Schaeck
04	2012	Stress testing German banks against a global cost-of-capital shock	Klaus Duellmann Thomas Kick
05	2012	Regulation, credit risk transfer with CDS, and bank lending	Thilo Pausch Peter Welzel
06	2012	Maturity shortening and market failure	Felix Thierfelder
07	2012	Towards an explanation of cross-country asymmetries in monetary transmission	Georgios Georgiadis
08	2012	Does Wagner's law ruin the sustainability of German public finances?	Christoph Priesmeier Gerrit B. Koester
09	2012	Bank regulation and stability: an examination of the Basel market risk framework	Gordon J. Alexander Alexandre M. Baptista Shu Yan
10	2012	Capital regulation, liquidity requirements and taxation in a dynamic model of banking	Gianni De Nicolò Andrea Gamba Marcella Lucchetta
11	2012	Credit portfolio modelling and its effect on capital requirements	Dilek Bülbül Claudia Lambert

12	2012	Trend growth expectations and U.S. house prices before and after	Mathias Hoffmann Michael U. Krause
		the crisis	Thomas Laubach
13	2012	The PHF: a comprehensive panel	Ulf von Kalckreuth
		survey on household finances	Martin Eisele, Julia Le Blanc
		and wealth in Germany	Tobias Schmidt, Junyi Zhu
14	2012	The effectiveness of monetary policy	
		in steering money market rates during	Puriya Abbassi
		the financial crisis	Tobias Linzert
15	2012	Cyclical adjustment in fiscal rules:	
		some evidence on real-time bias	
		for EU-15 countries	Gerhard Kempkes
16	2012	Credit risk connectivity in the	Jakob Bosma
		financial industry and stabilization effects	Micheal Koetter
		of government bailouts	Michael Wedow
17	2012	Determinants of bank interest margins:	O. Entrop, C. Memmel
		impact of maturity transformation	B. Ruprecht, M. Wilkens
18	2012	Tax incentives and capital structure choice:	Thomas Hartmann-Wendels
		evidence from Germany	Ingrid Stein, Alwin Stöter
19	2012	Competition for internal funds within	
		multinational banks:	Cornelia Düwel
		foreign affiliate lending in the crisis	Rainer Frey
20	2012	Fiscal deficits, financial fragility, and	Markus Kirchner
		the effectiveness of government policies	Sweder van Wijnbergen
21	2012	Saving and learning: theory and evidence	
		from saving for child's college	Junyi Zhu

22	2012	Relationship lending in the interbank market and the price of liquidity	Falk Bräuning Falko Fecht
23	2012	Estimating dynamic tax revenue elasticities for Germany	Gerrit B. Koester Christoph Priesmeier
24	2012	Identifying time variability in stock and interest rate dependence	Michael Stein, Mevlud Islami Jens Lindemann
25	2012	An affine multifactor model with macro factors for the German term structure: changing results during the recent crises	Arne Halberstadt Jelena Stapf
26	2012	Determinants of the interest rate pass-through of banks – evidence from German loan products	Tobias Schlüter, Ramona Busch Thomas Hartmann-Wendels Sönke Sievers
27	2012	Early warning indicators for the German banking system: a macroprudential analysis	Nadya Jahn Thomas Kick
28	2012	Diversification and determinants of international credit portfolios: evidence from German banks	Benjamin Böninghausen Matthias Köhler
29	2012	Finding relevant variables in sparse Bayesian factor models: economic applications and simulation results	Sylvia Kaufmann Christian Schumacher
30	2012	Measuring option implied degree of distress in the US financial sector using the entropy principle	Philipp Matros Johannes Vilsmeier
31	2012	The determinants of service imports: the role of cost pressure and financial constraints	Elena Biewen Daniela Harsch Julia Spies

32	2012	Persuasion by stress testing –	asion by stress testing –	
		optimal disclosure of supervisory information	Wolfgang Gick	
		in the banking sector	Thilo Pausch	

The following Discussion Papers have been published since 2011:

Series 1: Economic Studies

01	2011	Long-run growth expectations and "global imbalances"	M. Hoffmann M. Krause, T. Laubach
02	2011	Robust monetary policy in a New Keynesian model with imperfect interest rate pass-through	Rafael Gerke Felix Hammermann
03	2011	The impact of fiscal policy on economic activity over the business cycle – evidence from a threshold VAR analysis	Anja Baum Gerrit B. Koester
04	2011	Classical time-varying FAVAR models – estimation, forecasting and structural analysis	S. Eickmeier W. Lemke, M. Marcellino
05	2011	The changing international transmission of financial shocks: evidence from a classical time-varying FAVAR	Sandra Eickmeier Wolfgang Lemke Massimiliano Marcellino
06	2011	FiMod – a DSGE model for fiscal policy simulations	Nikolai Stähler Carlos Thomas
07	2011	Portfolio holdings in the euro area – home bias and the role of international, domestic and sector-specific factors	Axel Jochem Ute Volz
08	2011	Seasonality in house prices	F. Kajuth, T. Schmidt

09	2011	The third pillar in Europe: institutional factors and individual decisions	Julia Le Blanc
10	2011	In search for yield? Survey-based evidence on bank risk taking	C. M. Buch S. Eickmeier, E. Prieto
11	2011	Fatigue in payment diaries – empirical evidence from Germany	Tobias Schmidt
12	2011	Currency blocs in the 21 st century	Christoph Fischer
13	2011	How informative are central bank assessments of macroeconomic risks?	Malte Knüppel Guido Schultefrankenfeld
14	2011	Evaluating macroeconomic risk forecasts	Malte Knüppel Guido Schultefrankenfeld
15	2011	Crises, rescues, and policy transmission through international banks	Claudia M. Buch Cathérine Tahmee Koch Michael Koetter
16	2011	Substitution between net and gross settlement systems – A concern for financial stability?	Ben Craig Falko Fecht
17	2011	Recent developments in quantitative models of sovereign default	Nikolai Stähler
18	2011	Exchange rate dynamics, expectations, and monetary policy	Qianying Chen
19	2011	An information economics perspective on main bank relationships and firm R&D	D. Hoewer T. Schmidt, W. Sofka
20	2011	Foreign demand for euro banknotes issued in Germany: estimation using direct approaches	Nikolaus Bartzsch Gerhard Rösl Franz Seitz

21	2011	Foreign demand for euro banknotes issued in Germany: estimation using	Nikolaus Bartzsch Gerhard Rösl
		indirect approaches	Franz Seitz
22	2011	Using cash to monitor liquidity –	Ulf von Kalckreuth
		implications for payments, currency demand and withdrawal behavior	Tobias Schmidt Helmut Stix
23	2011	Home-field advantage or a matter of	Markus Baltzer
		ambiguity aversion? Local bias among German individual investors	Oscar Stolper Andreas Walter
24	2011	Monetary transmission right from the start: on the information content of the eurosystem's main refinancing operations	Puriya Abbassi Dieter Nautz
25	2011	Output sensitivity of inflation in	Dictor Naulz
20	2011	the euro area: indirect evidence from disaggregated consumer prices	Annette Fröhling Kirsten Lommatzsch
26	2011	Detecting multiple breaks in long memory: the case of U.S. inflation	Uwe Hassler Barbara Meller
27	2011	How do credit supply shocks propagate internationally? A GVAR approach	Sandra Eickmeier Tim Ng
28	2011	Reforming the labor market and improving competitiveness: an analysis for Spain using FiMod	Tim Schwarzmüller Nikolai Stähler
29	2011	Cross-border bank lending, risk aversion and the financial crisis	Cornelia Düwel, Rainer Frey Alexander Lipponer
30	2011	The use of tax havens in exemption regimes	Anna Gumpert James R. Hines, Jr. Monika Schnitzer

31	2011	Bank-related loan supply factors	
		during the crisis: an analysis based on the	
		German bank lending survey	Barno Blaes
32	2011	Evaluating the calibration of multi-step-ahead	
		density forecasts using raw moments	Malte Knüppel
33	2011	Optimal savings for retirement: the role of	Julia Le Blanc
		individual accounts and disaster expectations	Almuth Scholl
34	2011	Transitions in the German labor market:	Michael U. Krause
		structure and crisis	Harald Uhlig
35	2011	U-MIDAS: MIDAS regressions	C. Foroni
		with unrestricted lag polynomials	M. Marcellino, C. Schumacher

Series 2: Banking and Financial Studies

01	2011	Contingent capital to strengthen the private safety net for financial institutions: Cocos to the rescue?	George M. von Furstenberg
02	2011	Gauging the impact of a low-interest rate environment on German life insurers	Anke Kablau Michael Wedow
03	2011	Do capital buffers mitigate volatility of bank lending? A simulation study	Frank Heid Ulrich Krüger
04	2011	The price impact of lending relationships	Ingrid Stein
05	2011	Does modeling framework matter? A comparative study of structural and reduced-form models	Yalin Gündüz Marliese Uhrig-Homburg
06	2011	Contagion at the interbank market with stochastic LGD	Christoph Memmel Angelika Sachs, Ingrid Stein
07	2011	The two-sided effect of financial globalization on output volatility	Barbara Meller
08	2011	Systemic risk contributions: a credit portfolio approach	Klaus Düllmann Natalia Puzanova
09	2011	The importance of qualitative risk assessment in banking supervision before and during the crisis	Thomas Kick Andreas Pfingsten
10	2011	Bank bailouts, interventions, and moral hazard	Lammertjan Dam Michael Koetter
11	2011	Improvements in rating models for the German corporate sector	Till Förstemann

12	2011	The effect of the interbank network structure on contagion and common shocks	Co-Pierre Georg
13	2011	Banks' management of the net interest margin: evidence from Germany	Christoph Memmel Andrea Schertler
14	2011	A hierarchical Archimedean copula for portfolio credit risk modelling	Natalia Puzanova
15	2011	Credit contagion between financial systems	Natalia Podlich Michael Wedow
16	2011	A hierarchical model of tail dependent asset returns for assessing portfolio credit risk	Natalia Puzanova
17	2011	Contagion in the interbank market and its determinants	Christoph Memmel Angelika Sachs
18	2011	Does it pay to have friends? Social ties and executive appointments in banking	A. N. Berger, T. Kick M. Koetter, K. Schaeck

Visiting researcher at the Deutsche Bundesbank

The Deutsche Bundesbank in Frankfurt is looking for a visiting researcher. Among others under certain conditions visiting researchers have access to a wide range of data in the Bundesbank. They include micro data on firms and banks not available in the public. Visitors should prepare a research project during their stay at the Bundesbank. Candidates must hold a PhD and be engaged in the field of either macroeconomics and monetary economics, financial markets or international economics. Proposed research projects should be from these fields. The visiting term will be from 3 to 6 months. Salary is commensurate with experience.

Applicants are requested to send a CV, copies of recent papers, letters of reference and a proposal for a research project to:

Deutsche Bundesbank Personalabteilung Wilhelm-Epstein-Str. 14

60431 Frankfurt GERMANY